

A Battle in Store?

A discussion of the social impact of the major UK supermarkets

Acknowledgements

This discussion paper was commissioned by the Sustain Food Poverty Working Party. It was compiled by Corinna Hawkes, Kerry Rankine and Vicki Hird.

We would like to thanks the following for their assistance: Tim Lang (Centre for Food Policy), Robin Simpson (National Consumer Council), Jeanette Longfield, Jacqui Webster, Vicki Hird (Sustain), Simon Bullock (Friends of the Earth), Anne Hobbis, Bradford University

Food Poverty Working Party

Ian Brown - The Cardiff Environment Centre, Simon Bullock - Friends of the Earth, Audrey Bronstein - Oxfam, Chris Cunninghame - Save the Children, June Copeman - Nutrition and Elderly Health Education Unit, Kathy Cowbrough - Community Nutrition Group, Maggie Winters - UK Public Health Alliance, Liz Dowler - University of Coventry, Naomi Evans - Independent Consultant, Lucy Gillie - Soil Association, Natasha Gowman - King's Fund, Bill Gray - Scottish Community Diet Project, Michael Green - Independent, Ann Hobbiss - Northern Food Network (University of Bradford), Sophie Peterson - British Heart Foundation Health Promotion Research Group, Tim Lang - The Centre for Food Policy, Tim Lobstein - The Food Commission, Suzi Leather - Independent Consultant, Simon Lea - Health Education Authority (HEA), Mike Nelson - Family Budget Unit, Jill Pitt - Food Standards Agency, Claire Paisley - National Assembly for Wales, Michelle Sadler - Institute of Grocery Distribution, Maggie Sanderson - Caroline Walker Trust, Robin Simpson - National Consumer Council (Chair), David Steed - Children's Society, Lynn Stockley - Independent Consultant, Aruna Thaker - Community Dietician, Heather White - Department of Health.

Project staff:

Jacqui Webster Food Poverty Project Officer Victoria Williams Food Poverty Network Co-ordinator

Note

The views expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the working party members, of anyone acknowledged, or of Sustain's membership, individually or collectively. All errors and omissions are entirely those of the authors.

September 2000

A Battle in Store?

A discussion of the social impact of the major UK supermarkets

by Vicki Hird



Contents

Acknowledgements				
Food	d Poverty Working Party	(ii)		
1.	Introduction	1		
2.	Battleground No. 1: Supermarket Location	2		
2.1	The growth of the out-of-town superstore and the Big Four	2		
2.2	Jobs and the environment	2		
2.3	Planning: Planning Policy Guidance 6 (PPG6)	3		
2.4	Back into town	4		
2.5	Food deserts: what's the problem?	5		
2.6	The fate of the local shop: independence and competition	6		
3.	Battleground No. 2: Supermarket Competition	9		
3.1	Prices, profits and the arrival of Wal-Mart	9		
3.2	Produce suppliers: the chosen and the global	11		
3.3	Supermarket power, the environment and health	12		
3.4	Manufacturers, own branding and food miles	14		
4.	Looking For A New, Fairer Contest	16		
4.1	Recommendations	17		
	4.1.1 For Government	17		
	4.1.2 For Non-Governmental organisations/civil society	18		
	4.1.3 For the food industry	18		
5.	References	19		

1 Introduction

The British supermarket has an ally in the typical consumer: £66 out of every £100 spent on groceries is at supermarkets.\(^1\) Meanwhile, the very same stores have numerous critics. More often than not, the popularity of supermarkets is used to negate the critics (if you want supermarkets, you'll just have to live with their problems, or, if you are that worried about their disadvantages, then you'd stop shopping in them). This 'shrug your shoulders' mentality has long pervaded the supermarket debate.

To exemplify: as soon as complaints arise about losing green space and increasing traffic, we are told most consumers want out-of-town supermarkets. As soon as there are complaints about the baffling range of goods and services, it is pointed out how much time it all saves. As soon as complaints grow about high prices, we are reminded of the needs of good business and the high quality service we get in return. As soon as there are complaints about the closure of local shops, we are told we are being nostalgic, and should welcome the new jobs. If we worry about the poor state of British farming, we are pointed to the fresh foods section, with all its variety and quality at prices we can afford. And if people fight a new development in their neighbourhood, they are reminded that many deprived areas have no supermarkets at all. Even if the government questions their anti-competitive behaviour, they say that there is no proof that they are doing any harm.

In other words, people who question supermarkets are presented as not understanding the needs of consumers and good business practice, of being nostalgic, pre-modern. It is true to say that the scope of human desire is now liberated to go beyond the capacity of the local economy. It is true that as we seek to fulfil our desires on the world market, production becomes more centralised and market share concentrated into fewer and fewer hands. It is true to say that this is part of modern life - the two earner family with the need for convenient, car-based shopping - and that these processes have given us the modern supermarket. Yet, arguably, the consumer isn't shaping everything.

This report shows how supermarkets are not just a product of consumer demand but also of strategy and policy, and the outcome of complex corporate practices. It details the two major contentious issues that still hang over the supermarkets (location and competition), summarizing the facts and the figures, the whys and the hows. The aim: to provide a greater understanding of why supermarkets are what they are so that they can be changed for the better, and so that the alternative food retailing provision can be given a chance to thrive. The argument: that we should all feel free to benefit from the modern advances of the supermarket - their convenience, their easy access and technological advances, their ever increasing range of services and long opening hours² - while at the same time educating ourselves about the ways that their resultant negative environmental and human impact can be minimized. We can then demand policy to create a balance between the supermarkets, other food retailers, the consumer and the environment.

2.1 The growth of the out-oftown superstore and the Big Four

At one time in Britain, everyone shopped at small shops and markets. It wasn't until the 1960s that the supermarkets took hold: greater affluence and consumption in general made the mass marketing of goods a reality after the slumps of war and post-war periods.3 This was followed in the late 1980s by the spectacular growth of out-of-town superstores (supermarkets over 30,000 square feet). In 1982 5% of retail sales were out-of-town; by 1994 that had risen to 17%. In 1971 there were 21 out-of-town superstores; in 1992 there were 719.4 Now, in 2000, there are 960: Tesco has 255 (44% of its 586 stores)⁵ , Safeway 250 (52% of 482 total)⁶, Sainsbury's 215 (50% of 433 total, not including 11 Savacentres)7, and Asda 240 (all defined as superstores though not all are over 30, 000 square feet).8

The growth of the out-of-town store was a response to changing needs, both of the consumer, and the supermarkets. With the decline of the traditional family, and the rise of women working outside the home, the desire for speed and convenience grew. For busy working families, an easier life could be had by shopping in one store, once a week, and by car. The supermarkets were also able to benefit: having suffered in the 1970s from high inflation and price instability, in the 80s they began capitilise on the social changes that had been taking place since the 1960s. Part of this extensive restructuring was to open superstores, which achieved an average spend per visit around three times higher than the older and smaller stores.9 Their success was such that they generated two thirds of annual sales increases. It was therefore worth it for the supermarkets to abandon the high street, both following and driving a further change in shopping habits.10 And as more and more consumers shopped, out-of-town, profits rose. In 1978 the average operating margin was around 1.8%. By 1989 it was between 5% and 7%.11

By the early 1990s the success of the strategy of out-of-town expansion had allowed just four major players to dominate the scene: Asda, Sainsbury, Tesco and Safeway. Now known as the Big Four, J Sainsbury was the market leader until 1995, when it was taken over by Tesco. With record profits in 1999, Tesco continues to reign supreme. ¹²

2.2 Jobs and the environment

As most consumers, eager for a quick and easy one-stop shop, embraced the out-of-town stores, others were not so happy. People saw green space being eaten away, increased traffic, the closure of local shops, and declining local economies. Local communities started to organise, environmental groups to campaign, the media to take notice, researchers to examine, and government to act. The message was that out-of-town superstores were causing urban sprawl, countryside loss, increased car use, pollution and the decline of both rural and town centre economies. Local groups started to lobby their councils against superstores all over the country.

In the late 1990s hard evidence began to show that the campaigners might be right. On local economies an influential Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) report presented quantitative evidence of the detrimental impact of an out-of-town store on farmers, local stores and employment in Suffolk. It showed that complex local networks of supply and demand would be destroyed by a superstore, and with it, jobs, shops and wholesalers. In relation to jobs, a 1998 National Retail Planning Forum report showed that, on average, when a superstore opens, 276 full time equivalent jobs disappear (a result of closure of food retailers, and subsequent effects on suppliers and nearby non-food retailers). On traffic, the publication 'Off Our Trolleys' showed that a typical out-of-town superstore causes £25,000-worth of congestion, pollution and associated damage to the local community every week¹⁵ (over 90% of customers drive to out-of-town stores).16 On the closure of small shops, government research in 1998 showed that out-of-town or edge-of centre-supermarkets have resulted in disinvestment in market towns and district centres. This has lead to a

decline in market share of principal food retailers by 13-50%.¹⁷

In their defence, the supermarkets argue that their superstores are beneficial to local communities, creating jobs and 'clawing back trade'. 476,000 people are currently employed by the Big Four, and in 2000 they pledged to create 28,000 jobs. 18 Tesco still argue that: "when assessing the impact of large retailing in the UK, account should also be taken of the extent to which many small, local suppliers have benefited from supplying networks as wide and efficient as Tesco, and the boost that a store gives to the local economy. We create jobs and provide training that benefits a wide range of local people."19 But at what cost to the nearby town and are the jobs and training of high quality? Safeway cite a report from the University of Essex that purports to show that superstores increase retail employment. Safeway also took on the anti-car lobby, stating that: "there is confusion amongst many that new food stores create extra car journeys. The opposite is most likely to be the case... the development of a new store will reduce miles driven for shopping by at least 750,000 km per annum."20

Supermarkets also point out that they have responsible store siting policies. Since 1990 less than 50% of Tesco²¹ superstores have been built on greenfield sites, with 20% built on contaminated land. Of the 21 Sainsbury's²² stores planned for 1998/99, 19 were in city centres or at edge of town centres, and they are involved with over 180 town centre management schemes. 70% of Safeway²³ stores are built on previously developed sites, with the remainder on sites already designated for development. 70% of all Asda stores are in town centres and 44 of the 49 stores built since 1990 were on previously developed sites; over £30 million has been invested since 1990 on site improvements and improving contaminated land.²⁴

Winners and losers: Do the supermarkets really want to save green space and reduce traffic? After all, new superstores are still being built. Tesco opened four superstores in 1998/99.²⁵ The number of Sainsbury's stores over 40,000 square feet rose from 39 in 1998 to 61 in 2000. In 2000,²⁶ following its takeover by Wal-Mart, Asda announced its plans to

develop 13 new supercentres. The 13 new stores would represent a 5% increase in selling space.²⁷ Moreover, evidence presented by the struggling Somerfield shows that the majority of planning applications are for greenfield sites stating: "it is the requirement for large, flat sites on or near major roads that drives the commercial market and such sites are usually in greenfield locations."²⁸ And while the environment is still under threat from development, the argument about job creation or destruction continues to rage.

2.3 Planning: Planning Policy Guidance 6 (PPG6)

That superstores were causing some problems does - and did - appear to be accepted by government. In 1993, the Conservative government introduced Planning Policy Guidance on Transport (PPG13) which encouraged the consideration of locally accessible shops in planning decisions. In 1993, and then again in 1996 they revised the PPG6 on Town Centres and Retail Development. The guidance explicitly states that an out-of-town site should only be considered if there are no viable alternatives closer to the town centre and if it is genuinely accessible by choice of transport. It also advises against planning permission for retail parks which allow the 'comparison shopping,' (i.e. a selection of clothing stores, electrical goods etc) typically the domain of the high street.29 Though both PPG6 and 13 are guidance, not law, their introduction was met with a sharp reduction in approvals for planning applications by supermarkets.30

The recognition by the Conservative government that the growth of out-of-town stores needed limits, and planning should favour town centres, has thus far been continued by the Labour administration. Richard Caborn, Minister for the Regions, Regeneration and Planning has said that "out-of-town superstores can seriously damage the health of small towns and district centres. Arguments about clawing back trade and creating jobs simply do not hold water...[the Department of Environment, Transport and the Regions (DETR) Report on 'The Impact of Large Foodstores on Market Towns and District Centres']... provides yet further justification for the Government's

policy for concentrating appropriately sized new supermarkets in existing centres and resisting out-of-centre development. Local planning authorities now need to get their plans up to date and identify the town centre sites where new shopping development will be encouraged. Planning has got to change from being reactive and negative to being positive and proactive. ¹⁹³¹

Yet there has been much speculation that planning restrictions will be relaxed, fuelled by the buy-out of Asda by Wal-Mart (the US-based 'big-box' retailer that operates exclusively out-of-town). Hypothetically this would allow greater competition and therefore lower prices.32 There is also speculation of a rift between the Treasury and the DETR. In 1998 a report written for the Treasury suggested that the removal of PPG6 would increase productivity and "hence lower prices " - the report dismissed concerns about the displacement of "traditional high street retailers" as mere "social arguments" - ignoring the widespread economic consequences that this displacement can have. This conclusion was criticised by the Environment Select Committee saying that "relaxation of the the planning regime in respect of out-of-town sites would do little to encourage new entrants. It would run the risk of returning to the laissez-faire policies of before 1993, which did so much damage. "33 In an extraordinary oversight, the Office of Fair Trading failed to consult with the DETR when preparing its brief on supermarket competition for the Competition Commission.34

The Battle continues: Richard Caborn insists that the Labour administration "have no intention of changing the policy." More recent media speculation has pointed out that the likelihood of relaxation is "zero" because "an out-of-town development frenzy would fall foul of the environmental lobby." ³⁶

2.4 Back into town

Whatever the future of PPG6, since its introduction, out-of-town growth has slowed (the so-called 'Gummer effect' after Minister, John Selwyn Gummer, who introduced it): there were 53 new stores in 1996, a decline from a peak of 85 in 1991 (but an increase from 46 in 1995). Toward of floorspace now stands at around 3.5% compared to 15% during the late 1980s. The growth in sales has also fallen, from 28% in 1989 to 8% in 1996.

Yet this slowed growth had its compensations for the supermarkets. In the mid-90s, the Big Four made up for reduced out-of-town expansion by developing successful new formats.39 Smaller stores in the 'market town' format of around 15,000 feet and in city centres made sense, as did reinvestment programmes to make more use of space in existing superstores. Tesco led the way. By the end of 1996/7 Tesco had opened 30 Metro stores - 16 new stores, and 14 refits. They now have 42 Metro stores and 21 Express stores (in conjunction with Esso). 40 Their strategy was initially successful: the lower costs of reinvestment in city centre stores, coupled with high sales densities, resulted in increased returns in investment for Tesco compared to the early 1990s. 41 City centre stores were also made more efficient by technological innovations and their greater proportion of high margin products. In 1999 Sainsbury's, now struggling behind Tesco, entered the fray, opening a much publicised 'Local' at Paddington station in January 1999, and announcing in July its plan to open 200 Local stores by 2003.42 Safeway, meanwhile, aims to operate 45 petrol forecourt shops (in conjunction with BP Amoco) by the end of 2000.⁴³ All these new stores, coupled with a decline of closures and an increasing number of extensions, mean that total new sales area added by the major supermarkets has remained remarkably constant.44

It is arguable that strategically, a reduction in outof-town stores and reinvestment in city centres was beneficial with or without PPG6. In 1993-4, property overvaluation, non-recoverable initial investment and depreciation resulted in crisis for the supermarkets (the so-called 'store wars'); they had concentrated too much on their out-of-town strategy, and needed to

spread their investments more widely.⁴⁵ Site diversification made good business sense. It also made sense to the consumer. Complaints that supermarkets were intent on shutting down town centres and leaving people without cars with no place to go seemed outdated. But the consumer soon faced up to the limitations of city centre stores: since they are best able to generate profits on busy high streets, they threaten the few remaining independent food retailers.⁴⁶ For example the Sainsbury's city centre stores are predicted to have negative effects on butchers, fishmongers and greengrocers, as well as multiples such as Co-op.⁴⁷

Finding a city centre location that will generate enough profit is not easy, due to high rents and rates, difficult car access, potentially higher crime, and a rental system that gives a greater incentive for landlords to leave properties empty. Moreover, with low customer expenditure a significant factor in store siting decisions, the areas of most need - vacant high streets and low-income areas - are left untouched. Already there are problems with town centre stores. Sainsbury's has only opened 6 of its planned 200 'Locals'. And citing high rents, Tesco is now poised to close up to 10 of its Metro convenience stores, after poor financial performance. So

Winners and losers: Closure points to the strategy used by the supermarkets back in the 80s: do away with unprofitable stores (that will not benefit from reinvestment) to protect profits.⁵¹ For instance, Tesco closes on average 4-5 smaller stores every year. ⁵² Over the past two decades, stores closed have often been those located in poorer neighbourhoods. The result: a so-called 'food desert' where people on low incomes have minimal access to good quality and affordable food.⁵³

2.5 Food deserts: what's the problem?

Food deserts may be partly the result of supermarkets closing or failing to open planned) 'uneconomic' high street branches, while smaller multiples and independents in town-centres and more peripheral areas closing in response to competition with out-of-town stores. Food deserts discriminate against low-income shoppers, who have traditionally used the local or city centre shops more accessible by foot or public transport. Given that only 14-46% of households with incomes between £60-£150 per week have a car, often superstores are difficult to get to.54 A report by the Institute of Grocery Distribution (IGD) showed that people in deprived areas had to travel at least one mile to reach shops with a wider stocking range, often requiring a change of bus and a return fare of £2-£3.55 The problem is exacerbated because low-income shoppers tend to need to shop frequently owing to low cash flow, and lack of storage facilities such as a freezer.56

The food desert issue is not only about the absence of shops but also the presence of the wrong ones. For "while some low income areas are not totally deprived of a supermarket or other large grocery store, the choice of retailer or store format may be extremely limited. In some areas the overwhelming majority of grocery stores are discount stores or freezer centres, while in others there may be only one easily accessible mainstream retailer." Some deprived localities may even have more food stores than affluent ones - but these are the discounts, freezer stores and pricier independents. The complaint then, is the lack of access to a supermarket, the very same supermarkets that many claim are too numerous elsewhere.

Not all would agree there is a problem. A survey carried out by the Social Exclusion Unit revealed that less than 5% of people questioned in estates including Moss Side in Manchester and Hyde town centre named poor access to shops - but this figure rose to 25% in the Blackbird Leys area of Oxford. A MORI survey commissioned by the Social Exclusion unit's Policy Action Team (PAT) 13 Group also reported

minimal concerns. Yet, other studies have recorded complaints about access to decent food in marginalised neighbourhoods.⁶¹

This apparent inconsistency is a result of genuine geographical variations, and the use of different survey techniques. There is no doubt that there are some deprived neighbourhoods that require attention. In fact, supermarkets are keen to show that they can play a role in regeneration. Asda stores have been siting in more deprived areas for several years. In 1998 a store opened in Hulme, a deprived estate on the outskirts of Manchester, after six months of consultation with the local community. The store hoped to benefit from commuter traffic. 62 Asda claim in their recent environmental report: "ASDA recognises that it can help put back into areas of urban deprivation and has an strong record of developing stores in such locations e.g. Mosside, Manchester; Maryhill, Glasgow; Walton, Liverpool." Cooperative Retail Society also has a high level of retail outlets in deprived areas. Supermarkets also advertise that customers without cars can reach them by public transport: for example, Sainsbury claim that all but two of their stores are located within 400 metres of a bus stop, and several edge-of-centre stores have a free shuttle service (1996 figures).64

Government has responded to the issue in part by luring superstores into estates. In July 1999, the Labour party announced the opening of a Tesco superstore in the Seacroft estate in Leeds. The scheme is a £20 million partnership between Tesco, Leeds council, the employment service and the shopworkers' union Usdaw, and will involve local skills training and employment. The project is being hailed as "one of the first occasions on which private and public sectors had combined to deliver a comprehensive solution to social exclusion in the inner cities," and Tesco are "looking forward to working with other bodies to regenerate inner cities." ⁶⁵ This is the first of six planned projects.

But again there is the issue of the need to have a site that will generate sufficient profit. Take the example given by the Social Exclusion Unit PAT* 13 report of an estate where the majority of people were

on low incomes with a large proportion of elderly people. The community needed shops, but attempts to persuade a large retailer into the area were unsuccessful: the population did not have sufficient spending power and the site car parking space was too small for the supermarket.

Winners and losers: Whether in a city centre, a market town, a low-income estate or out-of-town, the site has to be right for the supermarket. It has to generate profit, maybe not straight away, but eventually. It has to be a place that enough people can reach, where the consumer will be welcomed by passing enough cash over the counter. Some sites simply do not fit this description. So it is understandable that supermarkets leave these sites well alone. There would be less of a problem if these areas were served, instead, by local shops. So, what is the fate of the local shop?

2.6 The fate of the local shop: independence and competition

From 1980 to 1994 the percentage of food sold by independent retailers fell from 31 per cent to 22 per cent. Over the same period, the number of independent retailers declined by 25 per cent, with numbers employed declining by 35 per cent. Villages and market towns lost half of their small shops between 1991 and 1997. A 1999 Women's Institute survey found that 30 per cent of villages had no shop. Over the last decade, more than 1,000 village shops, almost 500 post offices and 150 banks/building societies have closed down.

We have already seen that this decline is partly due to competition with out-of-town superstores, competition that will continue into the future. The retail analysis, Verdict, predict that "out-of-town superstores are likely to kill off more than 20,000 small retailers by 2001", the most likely being butchers, bakers and grocers. This is an issue that the media love to shout about too. 68 There are also fears

^{*} Policy Action team on improving access to shops

that the buy-out of Asda by Wal-Mart will hasten the decline (Wal-Mart is famous for low prices, and infamous for its destruction of smaller retailers and suppliers). According to The Ecologist: "As Wal-Mart enters Britain, all it will do is be a predator on other retail outlets. Rather than generating 'new' sales, and helping 'consumers', it could instead signal the death of town centres and villages, which are already notoriously under siege."

But while the decline of the local shop is regularly bemoaned, they are at the same time widely criticised for charging higher prices than supermarkets, for selling poorer quality goods and providing a poor service.71 The most comprehensive study shows that on basic comparable items supermarkets are cheaper than smaller grocery shops. 72 However this does not apply to all products between all stores. For example, a lay market survey in the West Country found fruit and vegetables 61% cheaper in small grocery shops than in the chains (£2.84 compared to 4.60 for 6 identical items). A total of 31 products were surveyed and the local shops provided an overall saving of £5.12.73 A survey in North London carried out for this report showed that fruit and vegetables were around 30% cheaper at a market stall than nearby supermarkets.74 It is true, though, that small shops cannot benefit from the differential price discounts obtained by supermarkets for large orders, nor can they afford to have loss leaders (selling at cost price), or predatory pricing (selling below normal profit margins, or even below cost price), practices widely used by supermarkets.75 The squeeze thus put on wholesalers by the supermarkets for these low prices may encourage them to charge the smaller shops even more.76

The UK government has done little to wipe out this competitive disadvantage.⁷⁷ Elsewhere in Europe they have. For example, France implemented the 'Loi Galland' in 1997. This regulation, intended to help small retailers, and smaller manufactures unable to offer price discounts, forbade the sale of goods at less than cost price.⁷⁸ In Spain too there are laws that forbid the sale of 'loss leaders'. One outcome, however, was an average 4% increase in prices, explaining perhaps why examinations of this issue by the Monopolies and Mergers Commission (now the

Competition Commission, CC) in the UK have never resulted in any action.⁷⁹

So is it really fair to blame the supermarkets for taking action to lower prices? They, after all, compete for their share of consumer cash, and do so by providing a wider variety and choice than a small store ever could. And what about the small shops themselves? Arguably, via entrepreneurship and innovation, they could also be competitive. ⁸⁰ If they banded together more effectively, for example, they could expand their buying power. They could be more flexible to local supply and demand, and generate custom through the more personal contact that many shoppers desire. They could become increasingly specialised, catering to niche markets. Examples of these innovations as success stories already exist. ⁸¹

With relatively little capital, however, innovation is a real challenge for independents. More support is needed and there have been several approaches taken. Sainsbury's, for example, are piloting an Assisting Village Enterprises plan (SAVE), to allow village shopkeepers to buy products at a local Sainsbury's and sell them on at a higher rate. Critics of this particular scheme point to the lack of real benefits for village shops compared to PR potential for the major multiple.82 But there is also the potential to encourage independent stores into deprived neighbourhoods.83 With the backing of the Social Exclusion Unit Mace has already started to promote neighbourhood stores in rundown areas in its Mace Millennium Initiative (MMI).84 In April 1999 one such store, opened on Sheffield's Longley estate, with an emphasis on cheap fruit and vegetables.85

These types of approaches have been criticised at 'sticking-plaster'⁸⁶ and not sufficiently planning oriented. A paper from the Centre for Food Policy calls for more community-led local food retailing, burdened less by fiscal stresses, and encouraged by new planning policy.⁸⁷ The Urban Task Force set up under the Labour government also call for more local retail centres partly via "a revision of PPG6, to ensure that the retail and leisure providers improve their design performance and consider the wider economic development implications of their development on the overall urban form. ¹⁶⁸ The Social Exclusion Unit PAT 13 team also recommended in 1999 that the

government should have a more active approach to planning local community retailing, which then should be followed by a planning policy guidance note to strengthen local centres.⁸⁹

Whatever the planning shifts, whatever the innovations, arguably the local shop is operating, and increasingly so, in an unfairly competitive environment. This is because they face competition from what is essentially a local monopoly. That is, the out-of-town superstore, having closed down local shops, with no rival superstore nearby controls more than 25% of the market. One third of the UK's supermarket catchment areas have only one superstore. On a national level, too, it has been argued that the supermarkets have become an oligopoly.* 91

The battle continues: This issue, raised back in 1995 by the SAFE Alliance/Institute for Public Policy Research report 'Off Our Trolleys', was taken up by the Office of Fair Trading (OFT) in 1998. Its report 12 months later, concluded that competition between existing grocery retailers is not effective. 92 The OFT subsequently asked the Competition Commission (CC) to examine whether the Big Four were practising anticompetitive behaviour. This would be measured by (a) their impact on traditional shopping centres and small shops; (b) high prices; (c) excessive profits; (d) exploiting their buying power with suppliers, and finally, (e) whether these factors meant that they are fact operating as an oligopoly.

^{*} An oligopoly is 'a group of companies, which together have 25% more or more of the market, and all behave in some way that adversely affects competition,' which 'can exist even if the companies involved do not have an explicit agreement to co-operate.'

3.1 Prices, profits and the arrival of Wal-Mart

The argument goes that if one company monopolises the market, it can capture the consumer who has nowhere else to go, and thus charge excessive prices. If several companies monopolise the market, they may have a formal or informal understanding between them that prices are best kept above a certain level, also leaving the consumer to pay an unfairly high price. So do supermarkets charge excessive prices? Are they guilty of Prime Minister Blair's charge that: "We pay too much for our basic goods but across a whole range of services. We are overpriced compared to the US and the reason, in part, is that there is too little competition."

Evidence that British supermarkets are overpriced comes from three sources: comparisons with other countries, high selling price compared to what was paid to the supplier, and associated high profits. In the first case, a Euromonitor cost of living survey found that the UK has higher prices than Germany for staples such as milk, rice, flour and potatoes (even though it is now a poorer country).94 The Financial Times reported that prices in Britain are 36% higher than in France, 45% higher than America, and 54% higher than Germany.95 Journalists from The Times found that the British were paying \$139.49 for a shopping basket, 35% more than shoppers in Germany, and 31% more than those in the US.96 A German professor did a similar study at Tesco in Cambridge and Rewe in Kassel, Germany. His 34-item British basket cost 56% more.97 BBC Panorama reporters found a basket of groceries costing \$126 at a London supermarket could be bought for \$121.50 in Paris, \$110 in Berlin and \$96 in Rome.98

However, owing to several confounding factors, international price comparisons are notoriously unreliable.⁹⁹ For example:

variations in national eating habits (mark-ups are higher in the UK for fruit and vegetables than other European countries¹⁰⁰)

variations in national shopping habits (British consumers maybe willing to pay more because they prefer nicer stores with higher quality products):

exchange rate fluctuations101;

ncomparability of goods in size or weight¹⁰²;

variations in capital and operating costs (high land costs in the UK for example).

A high selling price compared to what was paid to the supplier is therefore a more persuasive argument. For example, a report by the Independent in August 1999 showed that the difference between farm gate and supermarket prices were huge for a range of produce. 103 A report by the Commons Welsh Affairs Committee raised concerns about the growing difference between farm gate and retail prices for beef and lamb. 104 The concern is so high that there are speculations that Britain will follow the French in demanding that the supermarkets display the price they paid to the supplier, alongside that charged to the consumer (or post both onto the internet). 105

The high mark-ups imposed by the supermarkets on fresh foods have certainly generated good profits - the more fresh food is sold, the greater the profit. 106 Profits are also particularly high on processed food, especially the increasingly popular ready meals. Imported products may have an even higher mark-up. 107 Also contributing to high profits is the high proportion of high mark-up own-brand goods in UK supermarkets (42% compared to 18-19% in France and Germany). 108 Not only do own-brands have a high mark-up, but they allow the supermarkets to charge more for branded goods. (In Europe, supermarkets must charge less for brands in order to gain custom, and there are laws against copy-cat packaging. 109)

So are the supermarkets under paying their suppliers, over charging customers, and then pocketing the difference? Does this explain the higher profit margins compared to the US and the rest of

Europe? The supermarkets say no, high profits are not gained by ripping off the consumer, but by heavy capital investment, operating efficiency and low staffing costs. 110 Moreover, they need high margins because of the high costs of land.111 And when profits are measured by return on capital invested, the Big Four are less profitable than their European rivals. 112* There are also different conditions of depreciation between UK and the rest of Europe. French supermarkets depreciate rapidly to reduce tax incidence, while UK firms depreciate slower in order to report higher short-term profits in the active stockmarket conditions. 113 And when it comes to price, Tesco claim they are 8% lower than Europe, particularly on their own brand items (they have even launched a price comparison scheme on their Internet site). 114 Initiatives such as Value Lines, they point out, have helped food prices fall by 11% since 1987.115 However, the 'value', 'economy', 'low cost' and other such lines are often not the highest quality in terms of contributing to a healthy diet. After reports revealed that many products promoted in this way contain high levels of fats and sugar, some supermarkets have responded to such complaints by giving discounts on fruit and vegetables.116 117

With profits and prices thus explained, the supermarkets also have to show that they compete with each other. To this end, they claim that even though they may monopolise a local market (which they blame on planning controls), they compete nationally for price, service and convenience. Such is the importance of service and convenience to the modern (time-pressed but generally more affluent) consumer that they became increasingly important in competitive terms (and often traded for cheaper prices).

Price competition has become visibly more pronounced in the past few years, particularly since the OFT announcement in 1999. In February 1999 Tesco announced price cuts on 240 key items by up to 25%. Two months later, a few weeks after the CC was asked to investigate, it instituted new price cuts

to the tune of £25 million, cutting the price on 175 lines. ¹²⁰ By the end of 1999, Tesco had spent 380 million on price cuts (gaining market share and thus profits). ¹²¹ Asda, meanwhile, introduced a 'Rollback' scheme in March 1999, with the aim of having 4000 price cuts by the end of the year. By August 1999 over 2400 products had had price cuts, including the 100 top UK brands. ¹²² In October 1999 Sainsbury's pledged a Low Price Guarantee, undertaking to match the lowest prices in 1,600 of the most regularly purchased items. ¹²³

The low price claims made by Asda (it then estimated it was 5-10% better value than the other big supermarkets) made it a good fit for takeover by a store famed for its low prices: Wal-Mart. Indeed, the 'rollback' scheme was a copycat Wal-Mart strategy. After the takeover, Wal-Mart pledged to cut food prices by as much as one third - as it did after taking over a major German supermarket. 124 The supermarket price war thus continued into 2000, with Sainsbury and Tesco both pledging new price cuts. These price wars have affected profits - margins have now fallen from their peak of 6.8% in 1993 to 5.9% today. 125

Winners and losers: It would seem that the arrival of Wal-Mart has already created a greater competitive edge in UK food retailing in terms of price and profits. But there are two issues of contention here. First it is questionable whether cheap food is really what is needed. The cheaper prices obtainable in the US have not demonstrably resolved problems of access to food for people on low incomes. Falling food prices in the UK since the 1960s haven't eliminated food poverty either. 126 Indeed many argue that the 'cheap food' policy has helped cause poverty among farmers and contributed to the current situation of food poisoning, contamination and poor nutritional quality. A fair price policy is perhaps a more appropriate approach, one that takes into account the true costs of production. Secondly, Asda - Wal-Mart, along with Tesco, Sainsbury and Safeway, still control 70% of sales of foods and household products. Potentially such dominance creates barriers to entry for suppliers,

^{* 1997} estimates by Deutsche Morgan Grenfell indicate that return for capital invested is 20% for French hypermarkets Carrefour but only 15% for Tesco. In Europe, suppliers are given long-credit terms, so the supermarkets do not have to pay the supplier for a long period of time, leaving the supermarkets more cash, thus offsetting the capital investment they need to make.

since they have few other buyers. This can have the effect of forcing prices down for the supplier, while the supermarkets can charge what they like. This issue, discussed below, was one taken seriously by the Competition Commission.¹²⁷

3.2 Produce suppliers: the chosen and the global

The restructuring of supermarkets in the 1980s saw more than just the growth of out-of-town superstores; it saw the growth of retail capital. Coupled with increasingly streamlined accounting systems, this allowed the large supermarkets to side-step wholesale markets, and purchase direct from the supplier. This gave the supermarkets the ability to plan and control supplies in a way not possible via the open markets of wholesale. Aided by technology, they worked hard at speeding up delivery schedules ('just in time'), eliminating delivery errors and improving sales forecasts. They also worked to fulfill the 1990 Food Safety Act, demanding 'traceability' of products via barcodes, and strict health and hygiene standards in suppliers' packhouses. They also worked to fulfill the standards in suppliers' packhouses.

As direct relationships between the supermarkets and their suppliers built up, the fresh produce supply chain became a key strategic focus. Supermarkets wanted to reduce shrinkage and waste, increase freshness and quality, and maximise profits on these high margin items (margins are generally 35-45% higher on fresh produce). Supermarkets now knew that the appearance of their fresh produce could lure customers away from rival stores; the positioning of an attractive fresh produce section at the stores' entrance is no coincidence. ¹³⁰ Providing out of season products year round also became popular with the consumer. The strategy worked: by 1997, supermarkets held 70% market share for fruits and vegetables. ¹³¹

The supermarkets soon realised that buying produce was most cost-effective when they were able to control how much they wanted and when they wanted it. They also gained from controlling the quality (cosmetic) standards of the produce, and its price. Gaining this control was facilitated by the use of as few suppliers as possible, also making it easier

to trace products (to abide by the Food Safety Law).
¹³² With fewer suppliers now needed for a consolidated market, competition between farmers for supermarket patronage accelerated. To compete, suppliers changed the way they operated in order to suit the needs of the supermarkets, taking on responsibilities of logistics and marketing. In particular, they worked to add value to their product eg ready to cook, and pre-washed salad bags, in turn creating extra value for the supermarket.
¹³³ If successful, growers who supplied supermarkets then benefited from higher market share and sales volumes, along with market intelligence.

However, not all have benefited. Many say supermarket buying strategies have affected British farmers for the worse. Supermarkets, some farming commentators say, have ruined the small farmer (with less small shops, there are now fewer buyers for the small farmers not able to provide large enough volumes for the supermarkets). Supermarkets are also notorious for maltreating the farmers that do supply them. For example, they demand cosmetic standards much stricter than European Union rules (e.g. Cox apples must be 60mm to 90mm across and be up to 30% red),134 leaving farmers with fruit not worth picking, and no market willing to buy them. The dictates of the supermarkets are therefore resulting in both a harder life for farmers, and massive waste. And all the while, the farmers must keep the supermarkets happy by footing the bill for (frequently changing) packaging requirements and promotions (Safeway allegedly recently asked £20,000 per line out of each of its suppliers for promotional purposes¹³⁵). Suppliers may also be dropped or have to change orders at a moment's notice if they are not meeting the supermarkets' exacting quantity and quality requirements. Fear of speaking out, however, has been a serious obstacle to change. As Off our Trolleys noted in 1995: "fear of de-listing means that reports of first hand experience of supermarkets' buying policies are usually anonymous, for fear of retribution." This situation does not appear to have improved. Evidence from the British Independent Fruit Growers' Association to the Competition Commission was given anonymously "due to fears of

retaliatory action being taken (by the supermarkets) against themselves and/or their marketing desks". 136

Another major problem for British farmers is undercutting by foreign producers. Supermarkets now often source out of the UK, from countries such as Kenya, New Zealand, USA and Egypt. These countries have the advantage of either a more favourable climate or/and cheaper labour, which allow the production a wide range of premium fruits and vegetables at lower prices all the year round Out of season products tend to be very popular with the consumer and can be sold at a higher margin. Heavy investment in export by poorer countries (Kenya for example, exported 84 824 tonnes of horticultural products in 1996, a 58% increase over 5 years) has driven a transformation of marketing and supply, bringing horticulture essentially under the control of the UK supermarkets. 137 This is despite heavy criticism of labour and environmental conditions in these countries which are often far below the standard required of British farmers. Christian Aid, for example, have provided numerous examples of injustices in countries supplying UK supermarkets. 138

It is in this context that the British farmers have to compete for supermarket patronage (and even if successful they are often not given a written contract). The result: increased costs, lower prices, and overall declining returns (30-40% lower in 1999 than 1998¹³⁹). Unable to meet the costs of production, these farmers are struggling to survive as supermarkets make high (albeit falling) profits. As National Farmers Union (NFU) President Ben Gill put it in 1998: "I want to be in the business of continuing to produce the best quality food in the world. I am confident we do that at the moment, but unless there is a major redress in the apportionment of added value in the food chain so farmers are getting a fairer share of it, there will not be the breadth of British farming in the next millennium for them to source it." 140

Supermarkets claim that wherever possible they do try to help the British farmer. All have a 'Buy British' policy, and promote British produce: 95-100% of fresh meat sold in supermarkets is British for example. There are visible signs of promotion of British products around the stores, whether they be a special push to sell English apples in October, or advertising year

round sales of 100% British eggs. Asda is particularly active. For example, it has a 'Bring-it-back-home' initiative, favouring British over foreign suppliers, and a 'Cost-Plus' scheme, fixing prices through the peaks and troughs - for farmers and consumers.141 Whilst good promotion, however, such initiatives will not necessarily provide the farmer with a price which covers the cost of production. Indeed, a recent Waitrose initiative - called Select Farm Milk - to ensure that premiums are paid which reflect the cost of production, has been withdrawn. 142 Once again, farmers have no surety of price or market. Supermarkets do point out that they often source from smaller producers for their increasing ranges of high margin products and have encouraged local farmers to grow non-traditional crops increasingly popular with consumers (also sold at a high margin).143 Moreover, supermarkets alone cannot be held entirely responsible for the plight of British farmers. The state of the pound, for example, has been catastrophic for many. Supermarkets have also recently produced a voluntary code of practice for working with suppliers which has yet to gain approval from the Minister for Agriculture Fisheries and Food (MAFF), Nick Brown. 144

Winners and losers: Whatever the initiative, whatever the other causes, the supermarkets undoubtedly hold power over their suppliers. As one study on the supermarket - supplier relationship explained: "The relationships between suppliers of goods and services are not equal partnerships since the supplier's dependence on the custom of a major supermarket is much greater than the supermarket's dependence on any one supplier. The supermarket controls the crucial resource of access to large numbers of consumers, while the supplier provides products normally also available elsewhere. The potential substitutability of the supplier plays into unequal power relationships with the supermarkets who are the sole route to mass custom." 145

3.3 Supermarket power, the environment and health

This power relation places the growers in a subservient and vulnerable position; even if the supermarkets do help them, they are still in control. Arguably, however, this ability to control can benefit the consumer. It ensures that all suppliers conform to strict food safety and hygiene standards and allows a greater response to consumer demand. For example, in the last few years, there has been increasing demand for environmentally friendly and ethically produced food. Following the wholefood stores lead and in response to consumer demands, supermarkets now have numerous initiatives to encourage the type of environmental and ethical improvements now favoured by consumers (see Table 1). The most visible example is that of organic food, now more in demand than ever owing to concerns over genetic modification (GM) in foods. In 1998 sales increased by 40%, with total sales predicted to reach £5bn by 2005.146 Sainsbury's stocked 650 organic lines in 2000, up from 330 in 1998, and 42 in 1996.147

The outcome is an example of how consumer power can change the mode of production: more conversions by conventional farmers to organic. Sainsbury's (who have been commended for their environmental and ethical initiatives) encourage farmers to convert, and other supermarkets also offer grants. A survey by Friends of the Earth in March/April 2000 scored the 12 top supermarket stores for their commitment to providing GM free foods, removing dangerous pesticides and promotion of organic food. Waitrose gained the highest score overall.¹⁴⁸

These initiatives have been made possible because the supermarkets exert so much control over the supply chain. If the supermarket had to buy via wholesalers, or were not in the position to demand changes in production standards from their suppliers, such consumer-driven environmental improvement could be less apparent. There are other examples too. It is the supermarkets who have been responsive to the genetically-modified food issue. By eventually listening and responding to the concerns of the consumer, they have reduced the marketability of genetically engineered products on the world market, despite government policy. When consumers lost confidence in British beef during the BSE crisis of 1998-99, it was the supermarkets who largely rebuilt consumer demand, not the officially designated body of MAFF.¹⁵⁴ In 1998 people spent 3.5 times as much on food and non-alcoholic drinks from supermarkets compared to any other food retailer.155

The supermarkets, then, have utilised, and created more power by positioning themselves as the guardians of food quality in the UK. They have asked the British consumer to trust them and been met with a positive response - three-quarters of British adults say they trust Sainsbury's and Tesco the same as or more than 5 years ago and they trust them more than government. ¹⁵⁶

But is this trust misplaced? Take the Ethical Trading Initiative hailed by Sainsbury's as 'Socially Responsible Trading'. 157 Christian Aid reports that for all the talk about Ethical Trading, real action to improve the situation is superficial. Targets or timetables, if they exist, are vague. 158 Not enough is actually being done to improve the real situation for suppliers and workers in poorer countries.

Table 1: Examples of supermarket initiatives on environment and ethical trading

Initiative	Store	
Farm Biodiversity Action Plan ¹⁴⁹	Sainsbury	Encourages farmers to establish new habitats
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds initiative ¹⁵⁰	Tesco	Enhance farmland wildlife
Integrated Crop Management (ICM) 151	Sainsbury	Aiming to reduce the use of agrochemicals
Reduced animal testing ¹⁵²	Asda	Own brand has no animal testing
Ethical Trading Initiative ¹⁵³	all major supermarkets	Increase amount of ethically traded products and improve labour conditions

And the organic food revolution is being met less by increased support for British farmers, but by increased sourcing from overseas (three quarters of organic food sold in Britain is imported). Sainsbury's recently came under fire for its imperialistic approach when it announced that it had commissioned the whole Caribbean island of Grenada for organic fruit production. ¹⁵⁹ The increased mileage resulting from imports and distribution systems causes not only increased use of fossil fuels but also other environmental damage. This includes increased use of post harvest chemicals in storage, increase packaging and processing and more wastage.

There is also the issue of health. It has been suggested that the food industry, supermarkets especially (considering their dominance in the market place and the way that the more accessible small shops have closed) should take more responsibility for the health of the nation as a whole. At the very least, they should ensure that their pricing policies favour increased consumption of healthier foods. The high margins on fruit and vegetables (see section 3.2) suggests otherwise. Previous work by the National Food Alliance (now Sustain) shows that sugary and fatty foods are cheaper and more heavily promoted by supermarkets. Moreover, their 'Value Lines' that are targeted at those with lower incomes are dominated by unhealthy foods. 161

Winners and losers: All this is indicative of the way that supermarkets will only use their power to respond to consumer, environmental and health concerns when it fits within their agenda. Though this can be explained away as good business practice, when supermarkets have so much power over what we buy, arguably they should be subject to stricter regulations to force them to conform to the same type of standards that they expect of their suppliers. This type of legislation is being called for not only by consumer groups and produce suppliers, but by the manufacturers of the numerous grocery products stacked on supermarket shelves (see below).

3.4 Manufacturers, own branding and food miles

A survey carried out in 1999 showed that 65% of food manufacturers are in favour of laws to curb the buying power of the major supermarkets (a rise from 49% in 1998). 162 Along with the produce suppliers, manufacturers too have borne the brunt of supermarket buying power. As far back as the 1960s, after the abolition of the Resale Price Maintenance (RPM), retailers began to take control of the food supply chain from the manufacturers. 163 Then, during the 1980s and '90s technological change gave control of distribution, warehousing and stock control to the supermarkets, which allowed them to manage stock more effectively. Supermarkets then extended their influence up the supply chain, expecting manufacturers to fit in with these sophisticated systems of distribution.164 Supermarkets also demanded certain product specifications from the manufacturer, and insisted, to save costs, on more input in terms of quality control, market development and stock optimisation management.165 Thus the manufacturer inevitably had to bear increased costs, such as inventory holding.166

These changes have not always been popular with the manufacturers. Manufacturers are dependent on supermarkets to stock their products but cannot rely on supermarkets to promote their product. If it is successful, the supermarket will likely produce it under an own brand label which is more heavily promoted. According to a report published for the Liberal Democrats: "The stress on own-label puts supermarkets in an ambivalent position in relation to suppliers: they are not just customers, but competitors too, selling their own products. This raises questions of anti-competitiveness since they have access to confidential information about product launches and strategies. The downward cost pressure on brands also discourages research and product development that will ultimately restrict consumer choice. "167 This situation is facilitated by the weak trading standards law in the UK which allow supermarkets to imitate standard brands.168

This strategy of own-branding has had a significant impact on increasing the profits and power of the

supermarkets. (Britain has a very high proportion of own brand goods: share of sales volumes in the UK is 44.7%, compared to 22.2% in France. 169) The manufacturers sell the supermarkets unlabelled products cheaper than branded because they do not have to invest money in developing or marketing the products' brand identities. The retailers then pass some of the saving onto the customers, and keep the rest for themselves, therefore benefiting the supermarket via higher margins, sales and image strengthening. 170

Own-brand retailing tends to grow with market concentration - the two reinforce each other.¹⁷¹ This is because the manufacturer, with few other outlets to sell to, can be dictated to when it comes to the terms and conditions of the brand. This is reflected by the results of recent research showing that: "In almost all own-label supply relationships in the UK there is an absence of written contracts... Agreements regarding logistics and meetings are normally made verbally and kept flexible according to the retailers' requirements. The length of time for which the supply relationship should last is rarely specified and never drawn up in a written contract, implying that the supplier could be dropped at any time.¹⁷⁷²

Supermarkets, however, are quick to point out the advantages of their control over manufacturers: it has forced them to work in partnership to make grocery distribution more efficient. For example, at one time goods were delivered from suppliers to numerous warehouses from where they were delivered to stores. Vehicles then returned empty.¹⁷³ But now, the reorganisation of warehousing to create huge regional distribution centres and the rise of 'just-in-time' deliveries and technological stock supply has meant more shared user operations and back loading (full vehicles on return trips), and less deliveries and shorter journeys. 174 According to the supermarkets the accrued benefits are significant. Tesco's Supplier Collection scheme has reduced travel by almost 5 million km per year, saving 1.7 million litres of fuel worth £720,000.175 Safeway claim that since 1989 over 75,000 deliveries have been saved, reducing supplier journeys by 5%. Asda, meanwhile, have reduced supplier collections by 52,000, saving 13,300 tones of CO² emissions. 176

Consolidation of grocery distribution, however, does not necessarily make it more 'efficient'. With very few suppliers, more long distance journeys are required. Products will be transported to Scotland from the supermarket supplier even if they are based in the south of England. Thus the journey required is longer. The same applies to processed foods. There is also an increasing amount of food sourced out of Europe (see section 3.2). Largely as a result of the distribution networks of the major stores, the Food Miles report revealed that the amount of food being transported on UK roads has increased by an average 20%, with an increase of the distance travelled of 50%.¹⁷⁷ Half the total freight carried on UK roads is food products.¹⁷⁸

Winners and losers: In real terms the impact of own brand and consolidated distribution systems has been very positive for the supermarkets and has had mixed blessings for manufacturers. The effect on primary producers is likely to be the most pronounced as they have become increasingly squeezed into tight specifications and volume demands and yet gain less and receive an ever decreasing proportion of the retail price.

4 Looking For A New, Fairer Contest

It is true that retailing is a complex, dynamic and ever changing industry. Supermarkets are now diversifying into, for example, home delivery. Most of the major supermarkets are now running home delivery services and these are often linked to new internet sales. Tesco Direct, for example, is now the world's biggest online grocer and the UK's second biggest 'e-tailer'. It has 400,000 users. 179 Such services have been welcomed as an opportunity to reduce car based shopping and therefore aid those without cars. However, the additional costs involved coupled with an increasing emphasis on internet links excludes those unable to afford the internet or even use it.

Another example of diversification is the non-food market. Supermarkets have gained a significant proportion of sales of petrol, pharmaceuticals, CDs, banking and even mortgages. This has put pressure on non-food retailers, particularly independent petrol retailers and bookstores. In an ironic twist, Tesco has submitted a complaint to the Office of Fair Trading. This concerns the magazine industry which it claims is blocking technological development, in magazine distribution, championed by Tesco and WH Smith News. Tesco claims that this means customers suffer.¹⁸⁰

Supermarkets are also increasingly expanding overseas. For example Sainsbury's owns Shaws, a New England (US) chain. By 2002, 45% of Tesco's selling space will be overseas. The situation is changing rapidly as the bigger US retailers such as Wal-Mart also look to expand their operations even further into Europe and elsewhere. Metro AG, Germany's largest retailer for instance, is now considered ripe for take-over by Wal-Mart, as is Boots in the UK.¹⁸¹

Thus, the supermarkets have a strong and increasingly consolidated hold on the UK retail market. Despite their critics, the big four supermarkets are popular places to go. The supermarkets have strong consumer loyalty despite the high media profile gained by those concerned with supermarket power. The resolution to this conflict is often cited as being a mismatch between nostalgia and behaviour. "There is a nostalgia associated with shopping on the High Street which is not reflected in actual behaviour" said Safeway recently in its own defence. A commentator writing in the New Statesman

responded to problems raised by Tim Lang at the Centre for Food Policy saying: "Lang may or may not be right, but the rest of us are not exactly marching on Westminster to protest... If we don't wish to buy into supermarket culture, we should vote with our wallets and take our business elsewhere." 182

Presented thus, we are cajoled into believing that if we want modern life and convenient shopping, we should just put up with the negatives. If we really cared, we wouldn't go to supermarkets. But this is a naïve dichotomy. We all have a right to enjoy our out-of-town supermarket, and praise it for its quality and choice and convenience. This does not preclude us from asking our supermarkets to bear some of the costs that are borne by the environment and the local economies. It should not stop legislation to make sure supermarkets behave responsibly. It should not stop us from demanding a rethink on how the government views competition in food retailing. The scope of the changes should reflect how retailing is at the heart of the many challenges facing society in this century.

In order to address the problems, we must address the crisis in local food retailing. This is not a problem just in rural or poor inner city areas, but everywhere. Many reports and organisations now recognise this inter-locking feature of retailing.183 184 185 186 The last Government began to recognise the problems when it responded to concerns about giant out-of-town developments by imposing constraints.¹⁸⁷ The present Government has built on that by recognising other dimensions too and encouraging debate. But the hypermarket shows little sign of slowing. We need a new policy direction to ensure new delivery mechanisms support bottom-up retail strategies. There must be a commitment to a new consumer culture and a policy of (re)building the local food economy to ensure the survival and promotion of local shops for local communities.

Looking For A New, Fairer Contest

4.1 Recommendations

Many Members of Sustain have provided specific recommendations to the Competition Commission and the Select Committee on the Environment, Transport and Regional Affairs inquiries into Supermarkets. We do not attempt to repeat their recommendations here but make the following overarching proposals.

4.1.1 For Government

Competition policy rethink

The social costs of retail concentration need to be brought into the assessment of competition within the retail sector. The Competition Commission's remit has been so narrowly defined that it risks missing the real issues of environmental, social and public health concern. Sustain's submission to the Competition Commission Inquiry proposed the following should be included:

- i. Competition issues and suppliers,
- ii. Social exclusion
- iii. Local economies, jobs and businesses
- iv. Environmental externalities, green belt, and transport. 188

It is essential that the Government monitors progress - against measurable targets in each of these key concerns - following the implementation of any measures put in place on the recommendations of Competition Commission.

Local monopolies

There needs to be a re-definition of what constitutes a monopoly such that monopolies in essential supplies (such as food) are considered at a local level. The geographical definition of a market in retail competition policy should be re-drawn on a consumers 'Travel to shop' basis - and local market share calculated from this.

Achieving supplier and retail diversity

In order to ensure the existence and the diversity of retail outlets, it is essential that the Government examines and strengthens the local food sector. This must include measures to develop the supply chain such that local shops can source locally and local suppliers can sell locally. Local food retail operations, such as farm retail, farm direct delivery schemes and the more recent farmers markets and new initiatives on local community owned retailing provide useful experience and thinking. 189 190 191 Too often, these retail solutions are piecemeal and small-scale. They need to be built on, and quickly before hypermarkets have taken 100% of market share. This new policy direction must attract the industry and inspire them to provide investment in people and systems. This includes skill training, support, IT, supply routes, mentoring and marketplace to enable and encourage entrepreneurs - private or social - and community groups to set up and run vibrant local retail centres.

Making the market work

We believe there is a clear case for bringing in specific measures, in the public interest (which include social, health, and environmental as well as financial), to ensure that where the market does work against the public good, measures can be put in place to address the problems. This must allow for strengthening in planning regulations and guidance where necessary to curb inappropriate developments and strengthen opportunities for existing and alternative food retail outlets. Community mapping initiatives are revealing that local people are not always agreed that a supermarket is the best solution to local food problems. It is therefore important to analyse people's criteria for shopping in different places before planning new retail developments. There should be a radical re-think of transport policy to introduce disincentives for long distance transport and incentives to source and sell more locally to reduce reliance on roads and fuel. Plans to tax car spaces in out of town shopping centres should be reconsidered to address the unfair advantage of out-of-town stores over local. A major programme of research is required into the freight transport implications of 'consolidation'. centralised distribution and Distribution of new grants available under the Rural Development Regulation (EC) should reflect the need to develop local supply chains and enhance local market development.

Looking For A New, Fairer Contest

4.1.2 For Non-Governmental organisations / civil society

Increase action to make retailing and competition policy a cornerstone of work to promote sustainable and healthy food culture

Develop a strong and effective alliance to put pressure on Government and the food industry

Promote and monitor the development of local food retailing operations

4.1.3 For the food industry

Make a commitment to building social criteria into all policy decisions

Invest in developing local and regional sourcing operations

Stop hypermarket developments in sensitive areas

Work with Government and civil society organisations to develop solutions to tackle the problems in food retailing

- ¹ Roger Cowe, 'How top four tightened their grip', 'The Guardian' 26 March 1999
- ² For example see Professor Lord Peston and Professor Christine Ennew (Editors), *Neighbourhood shopping in the millennium*. Discussion Paper 1998.XII, University of Nottingham Business School (October, 1998), 95-115
- ³ For a good discussion of the rise of the supermarket see Leigh Sparks 'The rise and fall of the mass marketing?' In: R.S. Tedlow and G. Jones (editors) The Rise and Fall of Mass Marketing. (London: Routledge, 1993)
- ⁴ 'Superstores credited with job creation, 'The Guardian' August 5 1999
- ⁵Tesco Factfile 'Stores Types of Tesco stores' at http://www.tesco.com/talkingTesco/corporateFrame.ht m; web site checked on 245h August 2000
- ⁶ Safeway Press Office, Personal Communication; data gathered on 24th August 2000
- ⁷ Sainsbury's Press Office, Personal Communication; data gathered on 245h August 2000
- ⁸ Asda Press Office, personal communication; data gathered on 245h August
- ⁹ J. Frances and E. Garnsey, Supermarkets and suppliers in the United Kingdom: system integration, information and control. *Accounting, organizations and society* 21: 591-610 (1996)
- ¹⁰ N. Wrigley, Retail concentration and the internationalization of British grocery retailing. In: R. Bromley and C. Thomas [eds] *Retail change* (London: UCL Press, 1993)
- ¹¹ Cited in J. Frances and E. Garnsey, 'Supermarkets and suppliers in the United Kingdom: system integration, information and control. *Accounting, organizations and society* 21: 591-610 (1996)
- ¹² Tesco survives price war to post record profit, The Guardian April 12 2000
- ¹³ see SAFE Alliance 1996. *How to Campaign on superstore Developments*' chapter on Retail impact: the effect of supermarket development on existing town centres,', SAFE Alliance, London, 1996
- ¹⁴ CPRE Policy Position No. 4 major Retail Development (April 1999) (on internet at www.greenchannel.com/cpre/policy/positions/retail.ht m;) , memorandum by Friends of the Earth to Environmental Impact of Supermarket Competition,

- HoC Select Committee on Environment Transport and Regional Affairs, December 1999, HMSO
- ¹⁵ H. Raven, T. Lang, C. Dumonteil, 1995, *Off Our Trolley? Food Retailing and the Hypermarket Economy, Institute for Public Policy Research,* London, 1995.
- ¹⁶ Cited from *The Green Grocer*, 11, Safeway, Aylesford, Kent (undated publication)
- ¹⁷ DETR. 1998 The impact of large foodstores on market towns and district centres. DETR, 1998, London
- ¹⁸ 'Supermarkets expand' *The Times Business News* 11th January 2000
- ¹⁹ Memorandum by Tesco in *The Environmental Impact of Supermarket Competition. Select Committee on Environment,* Transport and Regional Affairs, 1998, HMSO
- ²⁰ Memorandum by Safeway in *The Environmental Impact of Supermarket Competition*. Select Committee on Environment, Transport and Regional Affairs, 1998, HMSO
- ²¹ Burke, T. and J.R. Shackleton, 1996. *Trouble in Store? UK retailing in the 1990s.* IEA Hobart Paper no. 130, London.
- ²² J Sainsbury plc, *1998 Environment Report*, J Sainsbury, London
 - ²³ Safeway, *The Green Grocer*. op cit
- ²⁴ Summary of Environmental Activity (by ASDA stores Ltd), on internet at www.asda.co.uk/env.html
 - ²⁵Tesco Annual Report 1998
 - ²⁶ From www.j-sainsbury.co.uk/group/
- 5 year summaryb.htm
- ²⁷ Environmental Impact of Supermarket Competition Second Report of the House of Commons Environment, Transport ands Regional Affairs Committee Para 31., HMSO, London
- ²⁸ Memorandum by Somerfield in *The Environmental Impact of Supermarket Competition.*Op cit
- ²⁹ See The SAFE Alliance's briefings: *How to Campaign on Supermarket Developments: Number 2.* October 1996.
- ³⁰ Wrigley, N. 1998. Understanding store development programmes in post property crisis UK food retailing. *Environment and Planning A* (1998), 30:15-25,23

³¹ DETR Press Release, 'Research backs government policy on siting superstores.' 25 September 1998

³²e.g. R. Cowe, 'Superstore Curbs to be Lifted', *The Guardian*, 16 June 1999, p.1.

³³ House of Commons, 1999, *The Environmental Impact of Supermarket Competition* Second Report, Select Committee on Environment, Transport and Regional Affairs, HMSO, December 1999

³⁴ House of Commons, 1999, op Cit.

³⁵ Cited from 'They're off their trolleys.' *The Guardian* Letters page June 17 1999

³⁶ 'What Byers has in store for Britain's leading supermarkets' *The Independent* 25th July 2000

³⁷ Verdict, 1998a. *Grocers and Supermarkets* 1998

³⁸ Verdict, 1998b *Out-of-town Retailing*, November 1998, p61

³⁹ Verdict, 1998b op cit

⁴⁰ Tesco Factfile 'Stores - Types of Tesco stores' at www.tesco.com/talkingTesco/corporateFrame.htm

⁴¹ Wrigley, N. 1998. Understanding store development programmes in post-property-crisis UK food retailing. *Environment and Planning A* (1998), 30: 15-25; plus 'Retailers move up the chain' Distribution, February 1996, DMG Business Media, Surrey.

⁴²City stunned by JS plan for 200 Locals by 2003. *The Grocer* July 24 1999, 6

43 cited in www.safeway.co.uk

44 Neil Wrigley, op cit

⁴⁵ Neil Wrigley, op cit

⁴⁶ See *Super Marketing*, August 21, 1998 "Multiples put small businesses at risk" cited in Economic and Social Trends and the Non-Affiliated Independent Retailer. Report by the Manchester Metropolitan University Small Retail Skills Forecasting Unit

⁴⁷ Super Marketing. August 21, 1998 "Multiples put small businesses at risk" cited in *Economic and Social Trends and the Non-Affiliated Independent Retailer*. Report by the Manchester Metropolitan University Small Retail Skills Forecasting Unit

⁴⁸ Burke, T. and J.R. Shackleton, 1996. Op cit

⁴⁹ G, Clifford . 1994. *The Retail Development Process* Routledge, London p 202

⁵⁰ Nick Mathiason, Tesco Metros close as high rents bite, *The Guardian* 21st May 2000

⁵¹ Verdict, 1998b op cit

52 Verdict, 1998b op cit

⁵³ J. Beaumont, T. Lang. S. Leather and C. Mucklow, 1995, Report from the Policy Sub-group to the Nutrition Task Force Low Income project Team of the Department of Health, Institute of Grocery Distribution, Radlett

⁵⁴ Killeen, 1994; figures cited from Low Income Project Team for the Nutrition Task Force, 1996, *Low income, food, nutrition and health: strategies for improvement.*, Department of Health, 1996, HMSO

⁵⁵ Low Income Project Team for the Nutrition Task Force, 1996, *Low income, food, nutrition and health: strategies for improvement.* Department of Health, 1996

56 Killeen, 1994 op cit

⁵⁷ Low Income Project Team, 1996, op cit

⁵⁸ Cummins and S. Mcintyre, 'The location of food stores in urban areas: a case study in Glasgow,' *British Food Journal* 101: 545-553

⁵⁹ Cited from Harriet Festing, 'Community Food Security and Food Poverty' in *Local Food Systems: Lessons for Local Economies,* University of Essex Centre for Environment and Society Conference Report May 1998 (on Internet at http://www.essex.ac.uk

/centres/ces/locfoodsys.html); Caroline, Demos, unpublished report (London: Demos, 1999). Views on supermarkets obtained through interviews in London and the Forest of Dean; Drew Whitelegg, Department of Geography, Kings College London. Interviews carried out in Clerkenwell, London; Bill Shannon, 'Food Poverty: the food retailer's responsibility?' *Coop Horizons 13* (October, 1997)

⁶⁰ Social Exclusion Unit, 1998, Bringing people together: a national strategy for neighbourhood renewal. Report by the Social Exclusion Unit, Government Cabinet Office, 1998, HMSO

⁶¹ e.g. Speak S, and S. Graham, 2000. Service Not Included: social implications of private sector service restructuing in marginalised neighbourhoods. The Policy Press and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Bristol

⁶² Dr Eileen Rubery, oral communication, August 1999

- ⁶³ Summary of Environmental Activity (by Asda Stores Ltd)' on http://www.asda.co.uk/env.html
 - ⁶⁴ J Sainsbury Plc 1996 Environmental report
- ⁶⁵ David Brindle, 'Tesco pioneers work skills in 'food deserts',' *The Guardian* 19 July 1999. Quotes from Tesco retail director
- ⁶⁶ University of Nottingham Business School, Neighbourhood Shopping in the Millennium, October 1998.
- ⁶⁷ National Federation of Women's Institutes, 1999. The Changing Village. NFWI, London
- ⁶⁸ e.g. Superstores sap high street. *The Guardian* 26 September 1998
- ⁶⁹ Rowell, A, 1999, The Wal-Martians have landed.(effect of Wal-Mart on UK consumers) *The Ecologist* August-Sept 1999, 29 i5: 306-64, 307
 - ⁷⁰ Andrew Rowell, A 1999. Op cit.
- ⁷¹ See Reaching the parts...community mapping: working together to tackle social exclusion and food poverty, Sustain/Oxfam, 2000, see also The Grocer 'Government slams independents' July 10 1999
- ⁷² Piachau, D and J Webb, J, *The price of food, missing out on mass consumption,* Suntory and Toyota International Centre for Economics and Related Disciplines, London School of Economics, 1996
- ⁷³ 'The cost of shopping village v. supermarket' *The West Briton,* 1st April 1999
- ⁷⁴Study carried out November 1999, by Catherine Dalmeny, N1.
- ⁷⁵ Mitchell, S. 1998, *Checking out the Supermarkets*. A report on supermarket retailing, 1998, Copies from C Breed MP House of Commons, London; plus Terry Burke and J.R. Shackleton, *Trouble in Store? UK retailing in the 1990s*. IEA Hobart Paper no. 130 (London: IEA, 1996)
- ⁷⁶ PAT 13, 1999, *Improving shopping access for people living in deprived areas.* A discussion paper from Policy Action Team (PAT) 13 of the Social Exclusion Unit, Cabinet Office, 1999, HMSO
- ⁷⁷ see ref. 2 Neighbourhood Shopping in the Millennium. Op cit pg 92
- ⁷⁸ see ref. 2 Neighbourhood Shopping in the Millennium. Op cit pg 55
 - 79 Mitchell, S, 1998. op cit
 - 80 Burke, T. and J.R. Shackleton, 1996. Op cit

- ⁸¹ see examples in *Economic and Social Trends and* the *Non-Affiliated Independent Retailer*. Report by the Manchester Metropolitan University Small Retail Skills Forecasting Unit op cit
- 82 Personal Communication from Alan While, Sussex Rural Community Council, 23rd September 2000
- ⁸³ Cited from *The Grocer* 'Deserts Blair must consult the experts' September 19 1998
 - 84 The Grocer 'Desert Bloom' September 26 1998
- ⁸⁵ Martin Wainwright, 'Fresh fruit and veg herald a fresh start for the corner shop,' *The Guardian* 2 April 1999
- ⁸⁶ Peters, T. and T Lang, 2000. 'The Crisis in UK Local Food Retailing'. Centre for Food Policy Discussion Paper 11, Thames Valley University, London
 - 87 Peters T and T Lang, 2000. Op cit '
- 88 Urban Task Force, Towards an Urban Renaissance (London: DETR, 1999)
 - 89 PAT 13, 1999. Op cit
 - 90 Mitchell, S, 1998 op cit
 - ⁹¹ Lang, T, H Raven, 1995 op cit
- ⁹² Office of Fair Trading Press Release no 11/99 'Bridgeman refers supermarkets'.
- ⁹³Tony Blair, cited in *The Grocer*, July 10 1999 p.
- 94 Reported in Peggy Hollinger, Financial Times 19th February 1999
- ⁹⁵ Cited in Nicholas Watt, 'Minister targets 'overpricing' shops,' *The Guardian* 26 March 1999
- ⁹⁶ Cited in Richard C. Morais, Squeezed lemons. *Forbes* 14th December 1998, p150
 - 97 Richard C. Morais 1998. Op cit
 - 98 Cited in The Chicago Tribune Nov 25, 1998
- 99 Peggy Hollinger, *The Financial Times*, 19th February 1999
- ¹⁰⁰Tony May, 'Supermarkets to face price check,' *The Guardian* 31 July 1998
 - ¹⁰¹ Ben Laurance, *The Observer* 2nd August 1998
- 102 Tesco News Centre (22nd July 1999) at http://www.tesco.co.uk/press/press-99july22ahtm
- ¹⁰³ Michael McCarthy, 'Why Britain's farmers are making a loss on nearly everything they grow,' *The Independent* 28 August 1999
- ¹⁰⁴ Cited in Peggy Hollinger, *Financial Times* 19 February 1999

¹⁰⁵ See Shoppers to see double over prices,' The Independent 19th August 19 1999; 'Shops to display profit margins,' *Sunday Times* 22 August 22nd 1999; 'What Byers has in store for Britain's leading supermarkets,' *The Independent* 25th July 2000

¹⁰⁶ See Roger Crowe, *The Guardian*, 26th March 1999 and Verdict, 1998b, 37

¹⁰⁷ Roger Cowe, The Guardian 26 March 1999

¹⁰⁸ Peggy Hollinger, the *Financial Times*, 19th February 1999; Mitchell, S, 1998 op cit

109 Burke, T. and J.R. Shackleton, 1996. Op cit

110 Tony May, The Guardian 31 July 1998

¹¹¹Richard Brookes, 'Recent changes in the retailing of fresh produce: strategic implications for fresh produce suppliers'. *Journal of Business Research* 32: 149-161

¹¹² Peggy Hollinger, *The Financial Times* 19 February 1999; Ben Laurance, The Observer 2 August 1998

¹¹³ Burke, T. and J.R. Shackleton, 1996. Op cit

¹¹⁴ 'Tesco prices lower than Europe,' Tesco News Centre (Thursday 22.7.99) at http://www.tesco.co.uk /press/press-99july22ahtm

¹¹⁵ Nicholas Bannister, 'Tesco to spend pounds 25m on price cuts,' *The Guardian* 26 April 1999

¹¹⁶ National Food Alliance, 1997, *Myths about food and low income*, NFA, London

¹¹⁷ Tesco Press Release 10.4.2000 £25million ploughed into fruit and veg, Tesco's Website.

118 Peggy Hollinger, *The Financial Times* 19 February 1999

119 Tesco listing at the online UK business: www.ukbusinesspark.co.yk/tescoaaa.htm

¹²⁰ Nicholas Bannister, ''Tesco to spend 25m pounds on price cuts,' *The Guardian* 26 April 1999

¹²¹ The Guardian April 12 2000, Retailers should scan the Tesco textbook; see http://www.tesco.com/whatsInStore/price_check.htm

122 Asda Press Release 6/8/99 'Asda achieves highest-ever market share' and 8/8/99 'Asda's biggest rollback yet - £30m of price cuts'

¹²³ J Sainsbury 'Our Progress' www.j-sainsbury .co.uk/group/history.htm. Web site viewed on 24th August 2000

¹²⁴ International Herald Tribune January 7 2000 'Wal-Mart cuts prices at ASDA in Britain ¹²⁵Cited from Nigel Cope *The Independent* 25.7.00

¹²⁶Leather, S. *The Making of Modern Malnutrition*. An overview of food poverty in the UK. Caroline Walker Trust. 1996

¹²⁷ Cited in Ben Laurance, 'Supermarkets face fair trade check-out,' *The Observer* 2 August 1998

¹²⁸ Jo Foord, Sophie Bowlby and Chrstine Tillsley, 'The changing place of retailer-supplier relations in British retailing' Retailing, consumption and capital, Neil Wrigley and Michelle Lowe (editors) (Harlow: Longman, 1996); J. Frances and E. Garnsey, 'Supermarkets and suppliers in the United Kingdom: system integration, information and control. *Accounting, organizations* and society 21: 591-610 (1996)

¹²⁹ Barrett, H and B. W. Ilberry, A. W. Browne and T. Binns, 1999. 'Globalization and the changing networks of food supply: the importation of fresh horticultural produce from Kenya into the UK. *Transactions of the Institute of British geographers* (1999) 24: 159-74

¹³⁰Richard Brookes, 'Recent changes in the retailing of fresh produce: strategic implications for fresh produce suppliers'. *Journal of Business Research* 32: 149-161

131 Keynote, cited in Barrett et al, 1999. Op cit

¹³² J. Frances and E. Garnsey, 'Supermarkets and suppliers in the United Kingdom: system integration, information and control. Accounting, organizations and society 21: 591-610 (1996)

¹³³ Richard Brookes, 'Recent changes in the retailing of fresh produce: strategic implications for fresh produce suppliers'. Journal of Business Research 32: 149-161; J. Frances and E. Garnsey, 'Supermarkets and suppliers in the United Kingdom: system integration, information and control. *Accounting, organizations and society* 21: 591-610 (1996)

¹³⁴ The Observer, 'The food we eat: crops rot as supermarkets demand perfection" 16th August 1998

¹³⁵ NFU attacks 'morally wrong; Safeway £20K demand. *The Grower* 25th November 1999, 5

¹³⁶ British Independent Fruit Growers Association. News Release 11th November 1999., Supply of *Groceries from Multiple Stores: Monopoly Inquiry. British Fruit Growers Give Evidence*, BIFGA, Kent

- ¹³⁷ Hazel R. Barrett, Brian W. Ilberry, Angela W. Browne and Tony Binns, 'Globalization and the changing networks of food supply: the importation of fresh horticultural produce from Kenya into the UK. *Transactions of the Institute of British geographers* (1999) 24: 159-74
- ¹³⁸ Christian Aid, 1996. *The Global Supermarket* ,Christian Aid, London
- ¹³⁹ NFU concern over lower prices. *The Grower* November 25 1999, 4
- ¹⁴⁰ Cited from 'Blackpool Illuminations' *The Grocer* 3 October 1998
- ¹⁴¹ Asda Press Release 6th August 1999 'Asda-the first supermarket to hold a farmers market in Scotland'
- ¹⁴² 'Watrose Withdraws milk bonus scheme', Farmers Weekly, 2nd June 2000
- ¹⁴³e.g. www.j-sainsbury.co.uk/community/ethical .htm
- ¹⁴⁴'Supermarkets' suppliers hope for protection', Farmers Weekly, 4th August 2000
- ¹⁴⁵ J. Frances and E. Garnsey, 'Supermarkets and suppliers in the United Kingdom: system integration, information and control. *Accounting, organizations and society* 21: 591-610 (1996)
- ¹⁴⁶Turning the organics tide. *The Grower* 25th November1999
- www.j-sainsbury.co.uk/environment/program mes; second two figures from J Sainsbury 1998 Environmental Report
- ¹⁴⁸ see Green Futures June/July 1999, 31; Organic farmers fear growing pains. The Guardian July 25 2000; *The Ethical Consumer* June/July 1999. Friends of the Earth Supermarket League Table www.realfoodweek.com.
- www.j-sainsbury.co.uk/environment/programmes
- ¹⁵⁰ Tescos Skylark Action Plan Sponsor quoted in RSPB Press Release *The biggest Big Garden Birdwatch ever?* 12th January 1999
- www.j-sainsbury.co.uk/environment/programmes
- ¹⁵² ASDA *Environmental Activity Report*, website www.asda.co.uk, Sept 2000
 - 153 www.sainsburys.co.uk/social/

- ¹⁵⁴ Terry Marsden, Andrew Flynn and Michelle Harrison, *Consuming Interests: the Social Provision of Foods* (London: UCL Press, 2000), 190
- ¹⁵⁵ Cited from Family Spending 1998 in D. Brindle, 'Supermarkets cornering the market on foodstuffs,' *The Observer* 20 November 1998
 - 156 Cited in Christian Aid. 35
 - 157 www.sainsburys.co.uk/social/
- ¹⁵⁸ Christian Aid, *Taking Stock: how the supermarkets stack up on ethical trading.* www.christian-aid.org.uk/reports/TAKINGST.HTM
- ¹⁵⁹ Organic farmers fear growing pains. *The Guardian* July 25 2000;
- ¹⁶⁰ Beaumont, J, 1996. *Developing a comprehensive commitment to meeting the needs and priorities of consumers and society.* Institute of Grocery Distributors, London
- ¹⁶¹ National Food Alliance, *Myths about Food and Low Income*,
 - 162 The Grocer May 22 1999, 4
- ¹⁶³ A. Hughes, 1999. 'Constructing competitive spaces: on the corporate practice of British retailer-supplier relationships.' *Environment and Planning A* (1999), 31: 819-839
- ¹⁶⁴Wrigley 1992, cited in A. Hughes, 1996 'Retail restructuring and the strategic significance of food retailers' own-labels: a UK-USA comparison. *Environment and Planning A* (1996), 28: 2201-2226, 2207
- ¹⁶⁵ Retailers move up the chain, *Distribution* February 1996, DMG Business Media
 - 166 Foord et al., 1996, Op cit
 - ¹⁶⁷ Mitchell, S, 1998 op cit
 - ¹⁶⁸ A. Hughes, 1999. Op cit
- ¹⁶⁹ For profits, name of the retail game is to sell own brands. *International Market News*, March 2000
- ¹⁷⁰ 'Make it your own' *The Economist* March 4th 1995
- ¹⁷¹ 'Make it your own' *The Economist* March 4th 1995
- ¹⁷²A. Hughes, 'Retail restructuring and the strategic significance of food retailers' own-labels: a UK-USA comparison. *Environment and Planning A* (1996), 28: 2201-2226, 2207
- ¹⁷³ Fill up and cut pollution. *Green Futures* November / December 1998

- ¹⁷⁴ 'Retailers move up the chain', *Distribution*, February 1996, DMG Business Media, Surrey
- ¹⁷⁵ Additional information from *Green Futures* November / December 1998
 - 176 ASDA website www.asda.co.uk
- ¹⁷⁷ Sustain, 1999, Food Miles still on the road to ruin, Sustain, London
 - ¹⁷⁸Cited from Farmers Weekly 14 November 1997
- ¹⁷⁹Tesco survives price war to post record profit. *The Guardian* April 12 2000
- ¹⁸⁰ Tesco report British Magazine industry to Office of Fair Trading, Tesco Press Release 2nd August 2000.
- ¹⁸¹ Wal-Mart hits trouble in Germany, Independent on Sunday 23 July 2000, Wal-Mart to make £6bn bid for Boots, *Independent on Sunday* 20th August 2000
- ¹⁸² Judy Jones, Polling in the aisles. *New Statesman* 20th March 1998: 32-34, 34
- ¹⁸³ The Urban Task Force: chair, Lord Rogers of Riverside, 1999. *Towards an Urban Renaissance*. Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions, HMSO
 - ¹⁸⁴ Raven H, Lang T. 1995. Op cit
- ¹⁸⁵ Porter S, Raistrick P. The National Retail Planning Forum: *The Impact of Out-of-centre Food Superstores on Local Retail Employment*. Occasional Paper No 2. Nottingham: National Retail Planning Forum. 1998
- ¹⁸⁶ Community Owned Retailing (2000). *National Strategy for Neighbourhood Renewal, Key Idea 20,* London: Business in the Community, Neighbourhood Renewal Case Studies
- ¹⁸⁷ House of Commons Select Committee on the Environment (1994). *Shopping Centres and their Future*. Fourth Report. Session 1993-94. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office
- ¹⁸⁸ Sustain submission to Competition Commission 'Supply of Groceries from multiple stores: monopoly inquiry', Letter to CC 26th May 1999.
- ¹⁸⁹ Community Owned Retailing (2000). *Community Retailing: the vision for local shops and farmers*. Dallington, E Sussex: COR
- ¹⁹⁰ CWS (1999). *Starting a food co-op*. Manchester: Cooperative Wholesale Society
- ¹⁹¹ Sustain (2000). Reaching the parts...; a report on Community Mapping. London: Sustain

Sustain: The alliance for better food and farming

MEMBERS

Action and Information on Sugars Arid Lands Initiative Association of Public Analysts Association of School Health **Education Co-ordinators** Association of Unpasteurised Milk **Producers** Baby Milk Action Bio-Dynamic Agricultural Association British Association for the Study of Community Dentistry **British Dental Association Butterfly Conservation** Campaign for Real Ale Caroline Walker Trust Catholic Institute for International Relations Centre for Food Policy Child Poverty Action Group Children's Society Common Ground Commonwork Land Trust Community Nutrition Group Compassion in World Farming Consensus Action on Salt and Hypertension Council for the Protection of Rural Design And Technology Association Diabetes UK East Anglia Food Link **Ecological Foundation Ecologist** Elm Farm Research Centre Farm Animal Care Trust Family Farmers' Association Farmers' Link Federation of City Farms and Community Gardens Food Additives Campaign Team **Food Commission** Foundation for Local Food

Friends of the Earth Gaia Foundation Genetics Forum GMB (Britain's General Union) Green Network **Guild of Food Writers** HDRA - The Organic Organisation Health Education Trust HUSH: The UK E.Coli Support Group Hyperactive Children's Support Group Institute of Consumer Sciences Institute of European and Environmental Policy, London International Society for Ecology and Culture Land Heritage Local Authorities Co-ordinating Body on Food and Trading Standards (LACOTS) Maternity Alliance McCarrison Society National Council of Women National Dental Health Education National Farmers' Union National Federation of Consumer National Federation of Women's Institutes Northern Ireland Chest, Heart and Stroke Association Oral Health Promotion Research Group Permaculture Association Pesticides Action Network - UK Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) Rural Agricultural and Allied Workers' Union (TGWU) Scottish Federation of Community

Society of Health Education and
Health Promotion Specialists
Soil Association
Townswomen's Guilds
UNISON
Vegetarian Society
West Country Graziers
Willing Workers on Organic Farms
Women's Environmental Network
Women's Food and Farming Union
World Cancer Research Fund

Agricultural Christian Fellowship

OBSERVERS

British Dietetic Association Chartered Institute of **Environmental Health** Christian Aid Consumers' Association Faculty of Public Health Medicine of the Royal College of Physicians Farmers' World Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group Food Foundation Health Development Agency Intermediate Technology **Development Group** Institute of Food Research Institute of Trading Standards Administration National Consumer Council National Heart Forum Royal Society of Health Scottish Consumer Council Socialist Health Association Trades Union Congress **UK Food Group** UK Public Health Association Vega Research Welsh Consumer Council Wildlife and Countryside Link Wildlife Trust Worldwide Fund for Nature

ΓRUSTEES

Michelle Berriedale-Johnson
David Buffin
Simon Bullock
Anne Dolamore
Stephen Dornan
Jeremy Faull
Joe Harvey (Treasurer)
Paul Knuckle
Professor Tim Lang PhD (Chair)
Iona Lidington SRD
Matthew Rayment
Mike Rayner DPhil
Patti Rundall, OBE
Robin Simpson

CORE STAFF

Gavin Dupee (IT Consultant)
Karen Frances (Administrative
Officer)
Vicki Hird (Policy Director)
Jeanette Longfield (Co-ordinator)
John Poon (Book-Keeper)

PROJECT STAFF

Kate Bowie (Fruit and veg)
Catherine Fookes (Target Organic)
Maya Forstater (Fruit and veg)
James Petts (CityHarvest)
Richard Siddall (Fruit and veg)
Jacqui Webster (Food Poverty)
Victoria Williams (Food Poverty)

VOLUNTEERS

Claire Belsham Kath Dalmeny Jo Foster Caroline Grootjans Siobhan Maderson Anne Oppong David Park Kuldip Rai Lindy Sharpe Viv Stein Helen Sturrock

Sustain

The alliance for better food and farming

Our Work

Initiatives

To represent over 100 national public interest organisations working at international, national, regional and local level.

Food Initiatives

OUR AIM

To advocate food and agriculture policies and practices that enhance the health and welfare of people and animals, improve the working and living environment, promote equity and enrich society and culture.

SUSTAIN: The alliance for better food and farming

94 White Lion Street, London N1 9PF
Telephone: (+44) 020 7837 1228 Fax: (+44) 020 7837 1141
Web: www.sustainweb.org Email: sustain@sustainweb.org
Registered Charity No 1018643
Registered Company No 2673194



A Battle in Store?

A discussion of the social impact of the major UK supermarkets

A SUSTAIN PUBLICATION 2000 Price £7.50

Sustain: The alliance for better food and farming

94 WHITE LION STREET LONDON N1 9PF tel: 020-7837-1228 • fax: 020-7837-1141 e-mail: sustain@sustainweb.org web: www.sustainweb.org

Design: by Gavin Dupee Printed on recycled paper by ????????